CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Hunter N Aikens, Counsel for Richard Ray Timmons, do hereby certify that I have this day

caused to be mailed via United States Postal Service, First Class postage prepaid, a true and correct

copy of the above and foregoing BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT to the following:

Honorable Lester F. Williamson, Jr. Circuit Court Judge 2104 8th Street Meridian, MS 39302

Honorable E.J. (Bilbo) Mitchell District Attorney, District 10 Post Office Box 5172 Meridian, MS 39302

> Honorable Jim Hood Attorney General Post Office Box 220 Jackson, MS 39205-0220

This the 9th day of February, 2009.

Hunter N Aikens COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN LIMITING THE SCOPE OF THE DEFENDANT'S CROSS-EXAMINATION OF C.L.

II. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for one count of statutory rape entered against Richard Ray Timmons following a two-day jury trial held on January 31, 2008 and February 1, 2008, the Honorable Lester F. Williamson, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. (C.P. 45, 49-50, Tr. 404, R.E.5, 9-10). He was sentenced to serve a term of twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with ten (10) years suspended and five (5) years post-release supervision. (C.P. 63-63,

Tr. 420, R.E. 11-14). Timmons is presently incarcerated in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and now appeals to this honorable Court for relief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the Summer of 2006, Jamie Lawson and his wife, Jerry Lawson, owned a roofing business in Meridian, Mississippi. (Tr. 98). Jamie and Jerry had two daughters: C.L., who was fourteen years old, and Rachael, who was ten. (Tr. 97, 157, 251). On July 16, 2006, the Lawson's hired Timmons to lay shingles for their roofing business. (Tr. 99, 159). On August 8, 2006, Jerry fired Timmons because she believed that he was inappropriately involved with C.L.. (Tr. 100, 137). On August 25, 2006, Jerry took C.L. to the Health Department, where a doctor examined C.L. for pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases. (Tr. 193, 278). The Health Department notified the police. (Tr. 278).

Timmons was later indicted on four (4) counts of statutory rape, charging that he had sexual intercourse with C.L. on or about each of the following dates: July 30, 2006, August 2, 2006, August 3, 2006, and August 5, 2006. (C.P. 2-5). At the conclusion of trial, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on Counts II, III, and IV and a verdict of guilty on Count I. (C.P. 45-50, Tr. 403-05, R.E. 5-8). The evidence adduced at trial is discussed in more detail below.

During the time period at issue–July and August 2006–C.L. and Rachael regularly slept in the living room of the Lawson house because there was no air conditioning unit in their bedroom(s), and Rachael was scared of her room. (Tr. 164-66, 200-01, 255). Many nights, C.L.'s friend, Gracee Smiley, also spent the night at the Lawson house in the living room. (Tr. 248).

The Lawsons hired Timmons on July 16, 2006. (Tr. 99, 159). Timmons (32 years old at the time) was a good worker, and immediately became a friend of the Lawson family. (Tr. 99). During Timmons' brief tenure of employment, the Lawsons invited him to their house on several occasions

after work to eat supper, spend the night, and wake up early the next morning to ride to work; Timmons did not own a car. (Tr. 100-03, 133, 164). When he stayed at the Lawson house, Timmons slept on the couch in the living room. (Tr. 100-03, 133, 164).

From July 16, 2006 to July 20, 2006, Timmons spent the night at the Lawsons' once or twice. (Tr. 133, 164). C.L. testified that nothing inappropriate happened between these dates, and her relationship with Timmons was plutonic. (Tr. 161-62, 199-200). From July 20 to July 25 2006, the Lawsons took a trip to Alabama. (Tr. 129). Jerry, Jamie, C.L., and Rachael went on the trip; Timmons did not go. (Tr. 129).

On July 26 or July 27, C.L., Rachael, and Timmons went fishing in a pond on the Lawsons' property. (Tr. 162, 202, 254). Rachael claimed that Timmons "touched [C.L.] in places that she didn't need to be touched" on the fishing trip; however, C.L. testified only that she kissed Timmons, and he called her his girlfriend. (Tr. 162-63, 202, 254). According to C.L., Timmons slept at the Lawsons' that night also. (Tr. 164).

The next day, Timmons, C.L., and Rachael went to pick up Gracee in Jerry's truck. (Tr. 168). According to C.L. and Gracee, Timmons asked Gracee if she wanted to have a threesome. (Tr. 169, 243). However, Gracee testified that Timmons was just kidding. (Tr. 243-44).

The following weekend, the Lawsons–Jamie, Jerry, C.L., and Rachael–took a trip to the casino(s) in Philadelphia, Mississippi; they brought with them Timmons, and his friend, Summer Sullivan, who sometimes babysat Timmons' daughter.¹ (Tr. 130, 170). At the casino, C.L. took a photobooth-type picture with Timmons. (Tr. 131, Ex. S-10). However, Jerry testified that Timmons

From the record, It appears that Timmons had a daughter with a woman named April. (Tr. 167).

probably took a picture with everybody, possibly even her. (Tr. 131). In any event, the picture of Timmons and C.L. simply depicts two persons in tight quarters smiling at the camera. (See Ex. S-10). The date of the casino trip was not clearly established at trial. Jerry testified that the casino trip took place on July 27, 2006. (Tr. 130). C.L. testified that the casino trip was on July 30, or July 31, 2006. (Tr. 171, 215). A date displayed on the photobooth picture read July 31, 2006. (Tr. 171, 215).

Jerry testified that C.L. had a case of "puppy love" for Timmons, and "she didn't want to leave his side." (Tr. 136). Jerry claimed that her "mother's intuition" led her to suspect that C.L. and Timmons were inappropriately involved because he "just seemed too friendly with my daughter." (Tr. 102). According to Jerry, her suspicions were raised when she discovered C.L. and Timmons talking late one night at the Lawson house. (Tr. 104).² Jerry asked Timmons what he was doing talking to C.L. at such a late hour, and Timmons explained that he "needed to talk to [C.L.] about his children. He was upset."³ (Tr. 120-22). C.L. testified to the same topic of conversation. (Tr. 167). According to Jerry, this "late-night talking incident" occurred approximately seven days before Timmons was fired. (Tr. 104,121).

Jerry also testified that, after the late-night talking incident, she found letters that C.L. had supposedly written to Timmons. (Tr. 105). At trial, the State introduced two sets of these letters. (Tr. 189, Ex. S-2, S-3, S-4, S-5, S-6 (set1), and S-7, S-8, S-9 (set2)). Jerry claimed that she found

2

Jerry also stated that she found Timmons and C.L. talking late at night on more than one occasion. (Tr. 132). To this end, Jerry testified, "Well, I mean, I've seen them by the refrigerator in the middle of the night." (Tr. 132).

From the record, it appears that Timmons had at least one child with an ex-wife named April. (Tr. 167).

the first set of letters (Ex. S-2, S-3, S-4, S-5, S-6) in C.L.'s purse. (112-13). She stated that she later found the second set of letters (Ex. S-7, S-8, S-9) in Timmons' room at his mother's house. (Tr. 115).⁴ While these letters revealed that C.L. had feelings for Timmons, they did not directly speak of any sexual intercourse between the two. (See Ex. S-10). Perhaps, the most revealing effect of the letters was to expose contradiction and create confusion in the State's evidence.

For instance, Jerry testified that she found the first set of letters (the one's found in C.L.'s purse) on July 18 or July 21, 2006, by searching C.L.'s purse: "I just felt like we needed to look there." (Tr. 112-13). This directly contradicted her testimony that she found the letters after the latenight talking incident, which she twice swore occurred on approximately August 1, 2006. (Compare, Tr. 104, 121 (talking incident on approx. August 1, 2006), 105 (letters found after talking incident), 112-13 (first letters found on July 18, or 21)). Further, C.L. testified that Jerry found these letters at the August 25, 2005 doctor's visit when her purse was knocked off and the letters fell out. (Tr. 187). Jerry later changed her testimony and claimed that she found these letters on August 8, 2006. (Tr. 137). However, this too was contradicted by C.L.'s testimony. (Tr. 187 (Jerry found letters on August 25, 2005)).

Jerry fired Timmons on August 8, 2006. (Tr. 99). On or about that same day, she confronted C.L., and C.L. said that she had sex with Timmons. (Tr. 99, 139). At trial, Jerry claimed that Timmons called her the following two days and confessed his love for C.L. and admitted to acts of oral sex and sexual intercourse with C.L.. (Tr. 100, 123-26, 137-39). Curiously, Jerry, despite

Jerry claimed that she and Rachael went to Timmons' mother's house to recover one of Rachael's rings that she (Rachael) had asked Timmons to hold for her at work one day. (Tr. 114). Jerry testified that she did not find the ring, but allegedly found more letters (the second set) that C.L. had supposedly written to Timmons. (Tr. 114-15, Ex. S-7, S-8, S-9)

having supposedly obtained a confession from Timmons, did not go to the police or take C.L. to be examined by a doctor until about three weeks later-on August 25, 2006. (Tr. 140-42, 192-93, 275-78).⁵ On this day, Jerry took C.L. to the Health Department; the doctor only examined C.L. to for pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases. (Tr. 193, 278). The Health Department then notified the police. (Tr. 278).

At trial, C.L. testified that she was jealous of Timmons and other girls. (Tr. 215-16). This was patently obvious from C.L.'s letter's. (see Ex. S-2 through S-9). On cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to cross-examine C.L. about deceptive and/or false allegations that she made in a September 2006, statement to police that Timmons was also sleeping with at least two other teenage girls; defense counsel also attempted to question C.L. as to why she did not mention these allegations in an earlier statement to police. (Tr. 215-16). The State objected on the grounds of relevance, and the trial court sustained the objection. (Tr. 216-18, 226-29).

Ultimately, C.L. testified that she had sexual intercourse with Timmons on each day charged in each count, i.e., on July 30, August 2, August 3, and August 5, 2006; she stated that this occurred in the living room of the Lawson's house, and Timmons wore a condom each night except for August 5, 2006. (172-76, 198, 205-212). On direct examination, C.L. testified that Timmons was at the Lawson's house "the whole day" on July 30, 2006, and they had sex "between 11:30 and 1:00 the next morning." (Tr. 205-06). However, on cross-examination, C.L. inconsistently testified that the casino trip (on July 30, 2006) was the first night she had sex with Timmons; and the Lawsons

When asked what she did during this extended period of delay, Jerry said, "I got all my evidence together before I went to the police." (Tr. 140). When asked what evidence she was getting together, Jerry stated only: "All the letters." (Tr. 140). Recall that, according to Jerry's previous testimony, she had possessed the letters for weeks, even before she fired Timmons. (Tr. 106-113).

(and Timmons) left for the casino around noon and returned later that night. (Tr. 215).

C.L. also testified that she had "sexual relations" with Timmons on August 2, 2006, on the couch in the living room, and Timmons wore a condom on this night also. (Tr. 174, 208, 210). She testified that she and Timmons had sexual intercourse again on August 3, 2006, and Timmons again wore a condom. (Tr. 175-76, 211). C.L. stated that she had sex with Timmons for the last time on August 5, 2006, in the living room, and Timmons did not wear a condom that night. (Tr. 176, 212). According to C.L., the next day Timmons told her that she may be pregnant. (Tr. 193). C.L., also stated that Timmons told her not to tell her parents because "he didn't want to go to jail. (Tr. 177).

Timmons' mother, Robin Doerner, testified in Timmons' defense. She testified that Timmons stayed at her house on July 29, 2006. (Tr. 310-11). She stated that Timmons was in his bed at her house when she woke up on July 30, 2006; he went with to Wal-Mart with her that afternoon or evening; they returned to her house and ate dinner; and he slept the night (on July 30, 2006) at her house. (Tr. 312-13). Doerner testified that Timmons woke up in his bed at her house on July 31, 2006. (Tr. 314). She acknowledged that Timmons went to casino on July 31, and she did not know what time he came in from the casino, but he was at her house when she woke up the following morning. (Tr. 313-15). Doerner went on to testify that Timmons also stayed at her house on August 1, August 2, August 3, August 4, and August 5, 2006 (Tr. 317).

As seen above, the testimony adduced at trial was extremely contradictory and confusing, especially concerning the time line (or dates) of events that allegedly occurred during the period at issue. As a result, the jury submitted the following question to the trial court during deliberation: "Is it permissible for the jury to find statutory rape on one of the dates only and on the other dates not guilty? Then one count of statutory rape? Do you need the date for one count?" (Tr. 400-01). Over defense objection, the trial court sent the following "response" to the jury:

You have been instructed to render a verdict on each of the four counts. Your verdict may be guilty or not guilty on each count. On each verdict, it is required to specify the count number which will identify the date of the alleged offense. Further explanation is not appropriate. See your previous form of the verdict instruction.

(Tr. 401-03). Less than thirty minutes later, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on three counts (Counts II, III, IV) and a verdict of guilty on one count (Count I). (C.P. 45-50, Tr. 403-05, R.E. 5-8).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in limiting defense counsel's cross-examination of the State's star witness, C.L.. The trial court prevented defense counsel from putting on evidence that C.L. recklessly made false allegations to police that, at the time she was involved with Timmons, he was having sex with two other teenage girls, and C.L. did not report this to police in a previous statement. This was reversible error, as C.L. was the State's star witness and the prohibited cross-examination directly called into question C.L.'s credibility and bias (jealousy). Consequently, this Court should reverse the judgment of conviction and remand this case for a new trial.

Additionally, the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The evidence adduced at trial was extremely contradictory and hopelessly confusing regarding the dates of the events that allegedly occurred during the time period at issue. Consequently, the jury sent a question to the trial court during deliberation asking if they could find Timmons guilty of only one count and if they needed a date for one count. (Tr. 400-01). Thus, the jury clearly did not believe (or could not make sense of) the State's witnesses' testimony. The jury found Timmons guilty on Count I but not guilty on Counts II, III, and IV, on which the evidence was far less contradictory. Accordingly, allowing the jury's verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice, and Timmons is entitled to a new trial on Count I.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN LIMITING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF STATE'S WITNESS C.L.

During cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to cross-examine C.L. to show that she made deceiving and/or false allegations in a statement given to police (in September, 2006) that, at the time she and Timmons were allegedly having sex, Timmons was also sleeping with two other teenagers, Moorehead, and Sullivan; defense counsel also attempted to show question C.L. to show that she did not make these allegations to police in an earlier statement (in August). (Tr. 215-16). The State objected on the grounds of relevance; defense counsel argued that matter bore directly on C.L.'s credibility and bias; and the trial court sustained the State's objection stating: "that's not relevant and not appropriate to be considered in this case." (Tr. 216-18, 226-29).⁶ As explained below, this violated Timmons' rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment.

A trial court's decision to exclude evidence is reviewed "under the abuse of discretion standard of review." *Hobgood v. State*, 926 So. 2d 847, 852 (¶11) (Miss. 2006). However, "the discretion of the trial judge must be exercised within the boundaries of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence." *Cooper v. State*, 628 So. 2d 1371, 1375 (Miss. 1993). Also, "[c]onstitutional issues are reviewed de novo." *Morris v. State*, 963 So. 2d 1170, 1175 (¶15) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citation omitted).

A hearing was later held outside the jury's presence, at which, defense counsel made a proffered to show that C.L. told police that Timmons was sleeping with Libby Moorehead, and Summer Sullivan, and both girls denied the truth of the allegation to police officers. (Tr. 226). Defense counsel argued that cross-examination on this issue bore directly on C.L.'s bias and credibility. (Tr. 226-28). However, the trial court reaffirmed his original decision to sustain the State's objection, on the basis that any evidence as to C.L.'s deceiving and/or recklessly false allegations were not relevant. (Tr. 228-29).

A. The trial court's restriction of cross-examination violated Timmons' Sixth Amendment right of confrontation.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to cross-examine the witnesses against him or her. *See e.g., Douglas v. Alabama*, 380 U.S. 415, 418, 85 S.Ct. 1074, 1076 (1965); *Shaffer v. State*, 740 So. 2d 273, 281 (¶27) (Miss. 1998); *Raiford v. State*, 907 So. 2d 998, 1001 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citation omitted). This right is also secured under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. *Suan v. State*, 511 So. 2d 144, 148 (Miss. 1987); *Davis v. State*, 970 So. 2d 164, 167 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). For instance, Mississippi Rule of Evidence 611(b) mandates that "[c]ross-examination *shall not be limited to* the subject matter of the direct examination and *matters affecting the credibility of the witness*." M.R.E. 611(b) (emphasis added).⁷ The appellate courts of this State have held that Rule 611(b) "allows wide-open cross-examination so long as the matter probed is relevant." *See e.g., Zoerner v. State*, 725 So. 2d 811, 813 (Miss. 1998) (citing M.R.E. 611(b), cmt); *Kittler v. State*, 830 So. 2d 1258, 1260 (¶8) (Miss. App. 2002).

The right to cross-examination is essential because "[c]ross-examination is the principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S.Ct. 1105,1110 (1974). Accordingly, an accused is afforded "the right to broad and extensive cross-examination of the witnesses against him." *Caston v. State*, 823 So. 2d 473, 491 (¶50) (Miss. 2002) (quoting *Suan*, 511 So. 2d at148). In this regard, this Court has

In addition to Rule 611(b), our rules of evidence reflect and ensure the right to crossexamination in Rules 607 and 608(b), among others. Rule 607 provides that "the credibility of a witness may be attacked by any party..." M.R.E. 607. Rule 608(b) provides that, in the discretion of the trial court, specific instances of past conduct may be inquired into on cross-examination if probative of the witness's "character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." M.R.E. 608(b).

recently stated: "Wide-open cross-examination of any matter bearing upon the credibility of the witness is allowed, including the possible interest, bias or prejudice of the witness." *Davis*, 970 So. 2d at 167 (¶7). However, this right is not absolute; the trial court has the discretion "to limit cross-examination to relevant matters." *Smith* v. State, 733 So.2d 793, 801 (¶37) (Miss. 1999) (citing *Pace v. State*, 473 So. 2d 167, 169 (Miss. 1985)); *Ellis v. State*, 856 So. 2d 561, 565-66 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (citing *White v. State*, 532 So. 2d 1207, 1217 (Miss. 1988)).

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