IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD RAY TIMMONS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0696

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County,

Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of **STATUTORY**RAPE.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The victim's father operated a roofing business in Meridian in July of 2006. The Appellant began working for the victim's father in that month. At various times the Appellant spent the night with the victim's family when he was not staying with his mother in July and August of that year. The victim, a female born on 7 November 1991, lived with her father, mother and sister.

The victim and her sister shared a bedroom in the family home. The Appellant slept on a couch in the living room. The victim occasionally fell asleep on an ottoman in that room. On

the night of the 23rd or 24th of July, the victim's mother found the Appellant and the victim talking in the living room at around four o'clock in the morning. The victim's mother suspected that the Appellant was "involved" with her daughter. The Appellant lost his job on 8 August 2006, when the victim's mother found that the Appellant had been intimate with her daughter. She found a number of "love letters" from her daughter to the Appellant. In one letter, the victim noted 25 August as her wedding day.

The victim's mother and her other daughter had occasion to visit the Appellant's mother's home. The Appellant's mother granted them permission to enter the bedroom he used. The victim's mother found three letters from the victim to the Appellant. After the victim's mother found the letters, the victim gave her mother a photograph of the Appellant and the victim at a casino in Philadelphia.

After the Appellant was fired, he rang the victim's mother to discuss the letters. In the course of the conversation, he admitted to having had oral sex with her daughter on one occasion. He then admitted to having had sexual intercourse with her. The Appellant said he was sorry.

On the evening following that conversation, after the Appellant's wife had left the victim's home, the Appellant called the victim's mother again to say he was sorry. He indicated that he had been in love with her daughter, that her daughter had been in love with him, but he denied that there was a plan to marry her daughter. Later, though, he stated that he had discussed marriage with the victim. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 97 - 150; Vol. 3, pp. 151 - 155).

The victim testified. She stated that she was fourteen years of age in the summer of 2006. She worked for her father's business during that summer. Her father hired the Appellant, and she worked with the Appellant laying shingles. As they worked together, the Appellant began to compliment her on her clothing, appearance and actions. The victim and her family visited

Alabama at one point. The Appellant and the victim stayed in contact by telephone while she was away. She was beginning to have feelings for him. After the victim returned from Alabama, she went on a fishing trip with the Appellant, where she was kissed by him. She was quite flattered by the attention shown to her by the Appellant.

On the night of the 30th of July, the victim was in the livingroom with the Appellant. She went to sit with him on the couch. He gave her compliments and they began kissing. Ultimately, they had sexual intercourse. Two days later, she performed fellatio on the Appellant. She also had sexual intercourse with the Appellant. Her sister Rachael was in the room, asleep on the floor. On the night of the third of August, the Appellant again had sexual intercourse with the victim. She thought that all in all she performed fellatio three times on the Appellant. The victim had sexual intercourse with the Appellant on the fifth of August.

The victim testified that her sister had seen her kissing the Appellant during the fishing trip and had entered the living room and seen the victim and the Appellant kissing and hugging. The victim told her sister not to tell their parents. The Appellant also told the victim not to tell her parents.

The Appellant plied the victim and her sister with alcohol on one or two occasions. The victim admitted writing the Appellant a series of letters. She did not address the Appellant by name at his request. The victim thought she was in love with the Appellant and had formed the idea that they were going to marry. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 157 - 236).

A friend of the victim testified that she had occasion to see the Appellant and the victim together. The Appellant and the victim constantly flirted with each other, and she once saw the Appellant and the victim holding hands. The friend knew that the Appellant often spent the night at the victim's family home. At one point the Appellant asked this friend if she would participate

in a "threesome," but the friend thought that he was merely joking. The victim once told this friend that she had feelings for the Appellant. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 237 - 250).

The victim's sister testified that she heard the Appellant refer to the victim as his girlfriend. During a fishing trip she saw the Appellant touch the victim "on her butt and stuff." The victim told her sister that she liked the Appellant. The Appellant was frequently an overnight guest in the family home. The sister saw the Appellant and the victim kissing on one night. The sister was present when her mother found letters written to the Appellant by her sister under the Appellant's bed at his mother's house. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 251 - 265).

The victim was of the age of fourteen years when she had commerce with the Appellant.

The Appellant was thirty - two years of age at that time. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 265 - 274).

The Appellant's mother testified. She said that the Appellant was with her at her home on the day and night of 29 August 2006. On the following day, his mother went to church and then she and the Appellant went to a Wal - Mart. The appellant stayed with her the remained of the day and spent the night at her house that night.

On the following Monday the Appellant's mother woke him at six o'clock. When she returned from her work at eleven, the Appellant was still at her house. The Appellant then went to a casino. His mother did not know when he returned on that evening. The Appellant was at his mother's house on Tuesday morning. He was with his mother on Tuesday, Tuesday night, and Wednesday night. He spent the entire week with his mother. On the Tuesday of the following week, the Appellant was said to have left for the Coast to take a job there. The mother did not deny that the Appellant spent nights at the victim's home. Her testimony covered the period between 29 July 2006 through 5 August of that year. The mother claimed that the Appellant was not fired by the victim's family. She said he quit that job, and had quit the week

before 8 August 2006. The Appellant's mother was with the Appellant when he turned himself in. She did not tell law enforcement that the Appellant had been at her house during the time frame she testified about. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 308 - 331).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN LIMITING CROSS EXAMINATION OF THE WITNESS LAWSON?
- 2. WAS THE VERDICT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT LIMIT THE CROSS EXAMINATION OF WITNESS LAWSON
- 2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT LIMIT THE CROSS - EXAMINATION OF WITNESS LAWSON

In the first assignment of error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court denied him his right to confront witnesses, in violation of the State and federal constitutions. While he has not troubled himself to be very specific in how this allegedly happened, it appears that his complaint concerns a ruling by the trial court concerning the extent he was permitted to question the victim about supposedly false allegations she made concerning the Appellant's conduct toward other girls.

In the course of cross examination, the Appellant brought out the fact that the victim told law enforcement that he was "sleeping with other girls." The victim then responded to several other questions on this subject. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 215 - 216). After having answered these

questions, the Appellant then attempted to question the witness about the timing of these reports — whether they were made in the initial interview or later. The State objected, alleging that the subject of whether the Appellant had had relations with other juveniles was irrelevant. The Appellant agreed that such a subject was irrelevant but stated that he was attempting to establish that the victim had made false reports concerning the Appellant vis a vis other girls. The trial court sustained the objection, holding that what may have been reported concerning other girls was irrelevant. The Appellant then asked to make a proffer of evidence, which was permitted. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 217).

The Appellant made his proffer. He stated that he expected the proof to show that the victim gave the names of two other possible victims. He further stated that the proof would show that the allegations were investigated and that the two girls involved each denied any sexual relations with the Appellant. This evidence went to the victim's credibility, according to the Appellant.

The trial court held that the victim never actually accused the Appellant of having had relations with the other girls, that the victim only stated that she suspected the Appellant of having done so. That was not a false report in the trial court's view. For that reason it stood by its previous ruling. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 226 - 229)

We do not find that the Appellant raised in the trial court a claim of a denial of the right to confrontation. An objection as to the area of enquiry the Appellant wished to explore was sustained. He made an offer of proof, and the trial court stood by its ruling. There was no allegation of a denial of the right to confront witnesses. This being so, that claim may not be raised here. *Rogers v. State*, 928 So.2d 831 (Miss. 2006).

Besides the fact that no claim of a constitutional violation in this regard was raised in the

trial court, there is no need to reach such a claim. The trial court simply ruled on an objection made by the State, the objection being that the area the Appellant wished to explore was not relevant. The issue in the first assignment of error may be resolved by considering the rules of evidence concerning relevancy and of scope of cross - examination under M.R.E. 401 and 611. This being so, the confrontation issue need not be reached. *Hood ex rel State Tobacco Litigation*, 958 So.2d 790, 812 (Miss. 2007).

The standard of review concerning the admission or exclusion of evidence is an abuse of discretion standard. Abuse of discretion will only be found here where an appellant demonstrates clear prejudice resulting from an undue constraint placed upon the defense. This Court will not disturb a trial court's evidentiary ruling unless it is clearly wrong. *Terrell v. State*, 952 So.2d 998, 1005 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

We note, first of all, that the Appellant did put into evidence the fact that the victim had expressed her suspicion that the Appellant was sexually involved with other girls and that she had not reported those suspicions in the initial interview, this prior to the State's objection.

(R. Vol. 3, pp. 215 - 216). The jury had this information for purposes of weighing her credibility. It is not correct, then, to see this as a case in which some potential inconsistency in the victim's account was not brought to the jury's attention.

Beyond this is the fact that the victim merely suspected that the Appellant was sexually involved with other girls. This was at best a mere opinion by the victim, if even that, rather than a representation of fact which turned out to be unfounded. If regarded as an opinion of a sort, it would not be admissible under M.R.E. 701 since it would not have been helpful to a clear understanding of a fact in issue. There is, on the other hand, no support to be found for the Appellant's claim that the victim was deceptive in this regard or that she made recklessly false

accusations. The victim suspected that the Appellant might be sexually involved with other girls. This was investigated and found to have been unfounded. There was very little, if anything, in this to amount to a false allegation. A suspicion is not the same thing as a wilfully false report.

In the event, though, that this Court should find that the trial court erred in refusing to permit the Appellant to go further with his examination of the witness on this point, any such error should be considered harmless. It would be harmless because the Appellant, in fact, did bring out information about the victim's erroneous suspicion that the Appellant had been sexually involved with other girls.

It would be harmless, too, because the exclusion of this evidence would have made no difference in the outcome of the trial. The victim's testimony was clear. It was corroborated by the letters she wrote to the Appellant, corroborated by her sister's testimony, and corroborated by the fact that the Appellant admitted to the victim's mother of having had sexual relations with the victim. In light of this testimony and evidence, it is hardly likely that the fact that the victim erroneously surmised that the Appellant might be involved with other girls would have made any difference in the trial. Whether the victim was incorrect about whether the Appellant had relations with those girls is insignificant in light of his admission that he did have relations with the victim. Since the Appellant cannot be reasonably said to have been substantially prejudiced by the exclusion of this evidence, there is no basis for reversal of this case. *Harper v. State*, 887 So.2d 817 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

As we have said, the confrontation issue is not properly before the Court. In the event, however, that this Court should find that it is before it, and further find that the trial court improperly limited the Appellant's right of confrontation, any such error would most certainly be harmless under *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed. 674 (1986).

This Court has recognized the availability of a harmless error analysis in the context of alleged violations of the confrontation clause. *Singleton v. State*, 1 So.3rd 930 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

Under Van Arsdall, there are several factors to be taken into consideration when determining whether a said - to -be violation of the confrontation clause is harmless. 89 L.ed. 2d 686.

In the case at bar, the victim's testimony was important, and it was not cumulative. However, there was evidence that corroborated the victim's testimony in its essentials, not the least of which was the Appellant's admission. In view of that admission, and in view of the testimony of the victim's sister and in view of the letters written to the Appellant, whether the victim was under a misapprehension that the Appellant was also involved with other girls was a small point. Whether the victim thought that the Appellant might have been intimate with other girls was not important at all.

The Appellant was not otherwise restricted in his cross - examination of the child, and the record shows that it was a lengthy cross - examination.

The prosecution's case, given the admission and the other corroborating evidence was a strong one. As the Court knows, it is not unusual to find that there is not corroborating evidence in a sex crime case. The case at bar is a strong case, in terms evidence, for this species of crime.

The first assignment of error is without merit.

¹ It is true that the jury did not convict the Appellant on the other charges levied against him. Why it did not must remain a mystery, but its decision with respect to those other charges cannot be on account of insufficient evidence with respect to them or on account of confusion on the part of the victim. The jury may well have decided that one conviction was sufficient in view of the fact that the acts between the Appellant and the victim were entirely consensual and in view of the fact that the victim was enthralled by the Appellant. The trouble for the Appellant was that he could not legally have consensual sexual relations with the child.

2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In the second assignment of error, the Appellant claims that the verdict is contrary to the great weight of the evidence because, it is said, the testimony concerning what the Appellant did on 30 July 2006 was confusing. The Appellant does not challenge the sufficiency of the State's evidence with respect to the elements of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-65 (Supp. 2008). We bear in mind the standard of review appurtenant to a claim that a verdict is contrary to the great weight of the evidence. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 779 (Miss. 1984).

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